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e Establishment of the Group
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¢ Development of technologies and applications
o ilT I FEFIBA S

] 999 e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

,/L e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary:
V. ITE (China) Limited in Shanghai
4 N e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award
_‘\i\ e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco
Hamac’ S Holdings Limited and Quesco Systems Limited on
7 December 2001
e Launched hardware products for smartcard o REBHART S FIARA S AIERTE ET
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projects in Hong Kong e BT EEBTEE
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Corporate Review
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e Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions

e Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management System (SKMS)
accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s
Republic of China

e Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong Kong

Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public Traffic Card

Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of value-added solutions

and services to its user community

Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments for

marketing, sales and support of its product ranges

Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

Receiving of Caring Company Award
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e Geographical expansion into Macao

e Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore, LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System (APMS)
accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic
of China

e Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology companies by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia Pacific Technology Fast 500"
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o Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macao SAR Customs Services
“Automated Vehicle Clearance System” &
Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau
“Automated Passenger Clearance System”

o Successfully completed the I1SO 9001:2000
Quality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service
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e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005

— Machinery and Equipment Design Award” for
Automated Passenger Management System (”APMS")

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management
System of the Construction Worker Registration
Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance
System

o Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon
2005

e Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation
Day for the Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion

Service
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o Official launch of Computer Registration Management System of the
Construction Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

e Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

e |TE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first Automated
Passenger Clearance System (“APCS") of the Public Security Forces
Services Bureau, Macao SAR at the Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2006

e |TE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by The Hong
Kong Council of Social Welfare for four years and two years espectively

o Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005" Macao

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was successfully
granted by State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic
of China
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e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery and Equipment
Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless Smartcard Transaction Controller
featuring Bluetooth technology”

o Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS")
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e Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology
Commission of HK to RF Tech Ltd.

e Forming Strategic Partnership with Macao Pass Card

e New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.’s Software Product
Series (“intelli”)

e Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office to RF Tech Ltd.
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e Become the regional channel partner of the world leading
smartcard and digital security company, Gemalto SA

e Completion of the first Innovation and Technology Commission
funded research and development project, Embedded Computer
Vision Escalator Passenger Monitor, together with a PCT patent filed

o Delivery of the first multi-applications smartcard system built on
MacaoPass Card for a luxury real estate complex in Macao

e Completion of a sophisticated equipment asset management
system for the Macao Prison using RFID technologies

e Completion of the first smartcard driven passage management
and access control system for the Lingnan University

e Collaboration with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University through
the first technology transfer and licensing arrangement for a
digital security product
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Chairman's Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“ITE” or the "Group”) for the

“Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”),
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
year ended 31 March 2009.

Mission

The mission of the Group is to become the leading smartcard, radio
frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution provider
and system integrator in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard system
solutions and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative
Region (“Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With
profound expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability,
proven track record and excellent reputation, the Group has established a
leading profile in our own industry and has adopted a proactive approach
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ITE Smartcard
Solutions Limited
(“ITES”) continues to
provide products and
services to our new
and existing cIients
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to introduce innovative and customised smartcard, RFID and biometrics
applications to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience
and intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products
and multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to overseas countries.

Overview

Our sound organisational structure, business portfolio and prudent
financial control policy have saved the Group from the severe impact
caused by the recent financial tsunami. Despite the tough economic
situation, the Group achieved a profitable annual result for fiscal year
2008/09. Furthermore, the difficulty has given the Directors an opportunity
to review our corporate development and strategies since our listing in
2001. Not only it affirms our vision and mission, it has enhanced our
management confidence and commitment to stay firm with our core
business and technologies. With “Excellence through Diligence”, we can
meet challenges of different kinds in the future.
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Appreciation
I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continual support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W R D

Management of the Group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return

to our shareholders.
Business Review
Marketing and Operation

During the year, our solution and professional services arm, ITE Smartcard
Solutions Limited (“ITES"), was awarded with a number of new contracts
in Hong Kong and Macao, including the MacaoPass Card driven access
control system for the luxury residential development ‘The Praia’, the
e-Purse smartmeter system for the new hostel development of Macao
Polytechnic Institute, a car park system of hotel and residential complex in
Macao, the new system enhancement works for the Automated Vehicle
Clearance System of Macao Customs, the visitor and staff smartcard
system for the Macao Prison. In the year, ITES successfully completed a
number of multi-applications smartcard solutions for many existing and
new clients coming from the campus and public sectors.

Our subsidiary, Quesco Systems Limited (“QSL"), achieved excellent results
with double-digit increase in the overall turnover and gross profit over the
previous year. QSL was awarded with the Staff Service Contract by the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council and information technology (“IT")
Professional Services Contract by the Airport Authority Hong Kong. We
also submitted a bid for the Tender for the Provision of IT Contract Staff
Services to the Government of Hong Kong issued by the Office of the
Government Chief Information Officer. The result will be announced in the
next quarter.

Innovation and Intellectual

During the year, the Group continued to build up our intellectual assets
through the innovation and intellectual property protection of new
products and solutions. A number of R&D tasks in hardware and software
were completed and initiated. Our product arm, RF Tech Limited, has
been strengthened with technological capability in the areas of embedded
computer vision and Ultra High Frequency RFID technologies. Along with
our in-house R&D results, we started the first technology transfer program
with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University to develop a RFID enabled
optical document scanner which will be used to identify and verify travel
documents like passport and identity card. Training sessions were also
arranged with the Industrial Centre of Hong Kong Polytechnic University
to upgrade the skill and knowledge of our staffs.
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Social Responsibility

As a member of the caring community, the Group commits to contribute
to our society through the participation of various social activities
aiming to push forward the core values of our Group. During the year,
we assisted in a number of fund raising campaigns for the local charity
organisations, many staffs of the Group joined the sport events which
promote healthiness and team spirit. We continued to create job and
training opportunities for the youth through various work study and
placement schemes collaborated with the local universities and the Labor
Department. Since 2001, our continual supports have brought tremendous
mutual benefits to the youth, the universities and the Group. Despite that
we foresee continual economic downturn in the coming fiscal year, we

shall continue to bear same social responsibility and maintain the supports.
Future Prospect

The global financial turmoil happened is going to cause recession in
the local economy. We do not expect very fast recovery in the coming
quarters. Many of our clients may hold their IT investments and delay their
projects, keen competition in price will cut the profit margin, business
growth is uncertain. In response to it, we will establish very tight control
measures with our cost structure while providing adequate resources for
our on-going product development.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$77 million, which is almost the same with last year.
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2009 was approximately HK$1.31 million as
compared to approximately HK$1.09 million for last year.
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10 | Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W R D

Turnover Breakdown by Main Business Segments

BEBRBE D H) S FH

10% 4%

Provision of Sales of

maintenance services service related products

RERERSE $HE RS EE &
12% 74%
Smartcard systems, RFID Consultancy income
and IT services AR AR A
BRERES - 53R
N B FARHR AR

2008/09

6% 4%

Provision of Sales of

maintenance services sgrvice related prc;ducts

RERE RS HE RIS HERIE T
25% 65%

Smartcard systems, RFID
and IT services
BREREAS - 5HERG
KB AR AR

2007/08

Segmental Information

During the year, the Group recorded the turnover almost the same with
last year. The Group’s gross profit margin has increased from 18% in last
year to 19% in current year.

Because of tough economic situation, many of our clients hold their IT
investments and delay their projects. This resulted in significant decrease in
its service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of the
smartcard systems, RFID and IT services, by 52% to approximately HK$9.5
million (2008: HK$19.7 million). However, with the accumulated projects
completed in previous years, the income from maintenance services
increased sharply for 79% to approximately HK$7.7 million (2008: HK$4.3
million).

Consultancy income
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For consultancy service segment, the turnover increased significantly by
14% when compared with last year. Despite of the significant increase in
turnover, the profit margin had dropped from 16% to 15%.

With our tighter cost control during the severe financial situation, the
Group’s administrative expenses had increased slightly by 2%.

With our continual working capital improvement, the finance costs
decreased by 33% to approximately HK$0.8 million (2008: HK$1.2 million)
for the year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Treasury
Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and bank borrowings. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had
outstanding short-term borrowings of HK$2,685,381, comprising secured
bank loans of HK$2,399,384 and bank overdrafts of HK$285,997. There
was no seasonality in the Group’s bank borrowing requirements, and all
the monies borrowed bear interest at floating rate. As at 31 March 2009,
the current ratio of the Group was 1.74 (2008: 1.36) while the liquidity
ratio was 1.63 (2008: 1.29).

The Group continues to adopt a conservative approach towards its
treasury policy. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its
customers. Besides, the Group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are
also reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the banking facilities granted, stringent cost
control and the existing financial resources available to the Group, it is
believed that the Group should have adequate financial resources to meet
its operation, development requirements and investments in the future.

Significant Investments
The Group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the Group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W R D

Employment Information

The Group recognises that its staff is one of the Group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the Group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the Group’s business performance.

The Group enjoys good relations with staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to
the remuneration as mentioned above, the Group also provides fringe
benefits which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC
and Hong Kong including contributions to social security scheme of the
PRC and contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong
Kong. Besides, the Group also provides on-going training programmes for
its employees to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new
technologies.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had 214 (2008: 228) full-time
employees, of which 205 are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in
the PRC and Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was
approximately HK$63 million (2008: HK$57 million) for the year ended
31 March 2009. During the year, the Company has not granted any share
option to any of its Directors and employees.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 March 2009, time deposits of HK$14,487,961 (2008:
HK$16,773,222) and available-for-sale financial assets of HK$Nil (2008:
HK$1,653,600) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
of the Group.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The Group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2009.

Gearing Ratio
At 31 March 2009, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated as

the ratio of total secured bank loans due after one year to shareholders’
funds, was nil (2008: nil).
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’'s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Macao Patacas
("MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, USS$,
and MOP have been very steady for the past few years. During the year,
the Group generally used the receipts from customers and bank loans to
pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are denominated
in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries operate. The
Group does not currently engage in hedging to manage possible exchange
rate risk as the Group considers the cost associated with such hedging
arrangements would exceed the benefits. However, management will
continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange rate risk and will
take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability
At 31 March 2009, the Company has issued corporate guarantees to

banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly owned
subsidiaries.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The Board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended
31 March 2009, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in

writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company who is responsible for managing the Board and
the Group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company since its incorporation. The Board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the Board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Under the
code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a causal
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment, and every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Under the present articles of association of the Company, Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong Vincent, being chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company, is not subject to retirement by rotation. This is not in
compliance with the Code requirement that every director must retire by
rotation once every three years.
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Besides, the non-executive Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third,
shall retire from office) provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
the chairman of the Board and/or the managing director of the Company
shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation
or be taken into account in determining the number of Directors to retire
in each year. As such, with the exception of the chairman, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation. The management considered that there
is no imminent need to amend the articles of association of the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2009. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2009.

Board of Director

The Board which currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the Group. Details of
the Directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All Directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the Board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

All independent non-executive Directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the Group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the Group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. No independent non-executive Director has served
the Group for more than nine years. Based on the above-mentioned,
the Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors were
independent.

With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors and the nature of the Group's
business, the Board considers that the Directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the Group.
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The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, four board meetings were held
and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each
Director.

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 3/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 1/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 3/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
Directors together with necessary board papers and related materials at
least four days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any
items on the agenda as they may think fit. The Company Secretary is
responsible for recording the matters considered and decisions reached by
the Board including any concerns or dissenting views raised by Directors.
Minutes of board meetings and the board committees meetings will be
sent to all Directors for their comments and records as soon as after the
board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.
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All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
Company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the Board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the Group’s operation.

Audit Committee

As required by Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry and
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony. Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen was appointed as
chairman of the audit committee.
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The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to
provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee
meets at least four times a year with management to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The principal
terms of reference includes, inter alia, its relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, review of the Company’s financial information and
oversight of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 3/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on 1 August 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles
and functions of the remuneration committee include the determination
of the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Members of
the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of the votes in the
remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive
Directors. No Director will be involved in any discussion in connection with

his own remuneration.
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The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and the Directors’ fees of
the independent non-executive Directors and all members attended.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 December 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of
the nomination committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the Company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of Directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for

directorship.

The nomination committee schedules meet at least once a year. One
nomination committee meeting was held during the year and all members
attended. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
Company. Further, Mr. George Roger Manho and Mr. Tang Siu, Henry will
retire from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s
articles of association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of external auditors of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 34 to 35 of this annual report.
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Internal Control

The Company has conducted a review of its system of internal control
periodically to ensure the effective and adequate internal control system.
The Company convened meeting periodically to discuss financial,
operational and risk management control. The Directors are of the view
that the existing system of internal control is effective and adequate to

the Group.
External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the Group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit

process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$325,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$26,700.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The Directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The Company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the Group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the Company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 45, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the Group. With
over 22 years of experience in the executive management, Mr. Lau was
engaged in China trade before founding the Group. He graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor

of Science in Mechanical Engineering.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 46, is an Executive Director and one
of the founders of the Group. Mr. Manho has 21 years of experience
in the control and automation industries, electrical and mechanical
projects and engineering management. He is a Chartered Engineer and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The Institute of Marine
Engineers and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine Technology and the
Institution of Fire Engineers. He holds a Master degree in Engineering
Studies in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a
Bachelor of Science (Engineering) degree with first class honours in Marine
Engineering from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 46, is an Executive Director and one of the
founders of the Group. He is responsible for technical management and
research and development (“R&D"). With 25 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 40, is an Executive Director of the Group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. He joined the Group in March 2000. Mr. Liu graduated from
The London School of Economics and Political Science of the University
of London with a Bachelor of Science degree, first class honours in
Management Sciences. He is an associate member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the
younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 69, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong
Kong Executive Council from 1985 to 1992. He was appointed as the
Company'’s independent non-executive director in December 2000.

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, QFsM, CPM, aged 64, is currently a Registered
Chinese Medicine Practitioner (Full Subjects), a director of a private
company, the Principal Consultant of Hong Kong Fire Services Staff
General Association, the Life and First President of the Hong Kong
Professional Institute of Chinese Medicine Medicated Meal & Food, a
Consultant & life member of Hong Kong Registered Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Association, the President of the Friends of Scouting and a
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (East Asia Branch). Mr.
Tang was Chief Fire Officer Hong Kong Fire Command from 1993 to
2000. He holds a Master Degree of Science (Major in Urban Planning),
a Bachelor Degree of Law (Hons) and a Fellow of the Faculty of Law of
University of Wolverhampton the United Kingdom. He was appointed as
the Company’s independent non-executive director on 5 September 2005.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 43, is the proprietor of a Certified
Public Accountant firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Kam holds a Bachelor of Laws
degree from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom, and
a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kam
is a fellow member of the HKICPA and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (“ACCA”"), an associate member of ICAEW and an affiliate
member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Besides, Mr. Kam is also
a member of Task Group in the HKICPA. Mr. Kam has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and
public companies. He was appointed as the Company’s independent non-
executive director on 30 September 2004.
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Senior Management

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 41, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the Group. With 18 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining
the Group in September 2001.

Miss. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 35, is the Financial Controller
and associated director of the Group. Miss Yeung is responsible for
managing the Group’s finance and accounting operations, performing
statutory and management reporting. Miss. Yeung has over 12 years in
auditing, accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of
the HKICPA and ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA. She holds a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Yuk Wai Kwok, Simon, aged 44, is a Consultant (Marketing and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. Yuk is responsible for business development, sales
and marketing of the Group. He is also in charge of the development
of business co-operation arrangement with vendors and partners in
Hong Kong, PRC, Macao and other overseas market. With 18 years
of experience in project management of IT industry, Mr. Yuk has been
involved in the sales and tendering process for several sizeable IT projects.
He was a project manager of a computer company for 10 years before
joining the Group in December 1999.

Mr. Lam Kwai Sum, aged 43, is the Senior Project Manager of the Group.
Mr. Lam is responsible for project management, implementation and
maintenance services. With 22 years’ depth knowledge and experience
in project engineering including 12 years in the design, coordination, site
supervision, testing and commissioning in building services and 10 years
of project design and management, tendering and supervision of electrical
installation systems. He joins the Group in August 2001 and has been
involved in several sizeable installation projects in Hong Kong and Macao
including government sectors, public sectors, campus and estates.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) during the financial year are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the Group’s turnover and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

EEGo AMRAREBRE_ZTTENF=A=T—HIFE
EEZIBRE -

ARTMEBEBAREER - XHBAANEELBH

BRI B IMKRMFLS ©

AEBERAYBFE R E BRG KL E I DTN 5
HRMFET12 ©

FEEFREER

REAFHRFEEARN  AEBETEZRTPAEEEBREREM
EERBRABOT

Percentage of group total

HEBAEESL
Turnover Purchases
BXEHE HEEE
The largest customer BAEF 66% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF B 83% =
The largest supplier A ER - 13%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate B R AT - 41%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

Financial statements
The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the state

of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 36 to 93.

BEE RENBBALTHRBEEEMAER XD ARA5%
AEEERE - HEEA L T BRP MM EE MR
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Transfer to reserves

Profits attributable to shareholders of HK$1,314,847 (2008:
HK$1,085,610) have been transferred to reserves. Other movements in
reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2008: HK$Nil). The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2009 (2008: HK$Nil).

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$9,000 (2008: HK$3,800).

Fixed assets

Details of the movements during the year in the fixed assets of the Group
are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

Share capital

Details of the movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Directors
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s articles of association,
Mr. George Roger Manho and Mr. Tang Siu, Henry retire from the board
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the Company on 1 April
2009 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2009
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 1 January 2009 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2009 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Except for the above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

=
REPBFEANES

HITES

2ERELE
EPER 1 SR A
EEELELE
2mELL

BYFHITES
FEREL
BMERRLE

RIBARNREMEIRMAE 10815 - BEHELERBBLE
BREERRBEREG LRESR - ERESEEEE-

EERBEYN

BEN kL BEELEERZEBELAEN_TENFOA
—B EXEEARFFIRBEN A_TTAFOA
—BRRHAE—F YRNEK-—EFE BEEEMAHS
Az —HEO=EANEEBA T ARIESRIE -

BRELEENR_ZTZNF-—HA—B  DEARFTIZRS
BH BEMHAE_TEAF-A-BRAA/H—F I
REE—EFE BEEEMATHNTMS—HTEL=EAH
EHEBHTIALIERIE -

BREXmaAEN  BREERRBFASEENESRE
AN ARRREMMERR AR —FRRNEBE (—RE
SERRERRSN) T IAR B M REWIRTE A K ©



Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

As at 31 March 2009, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ")), which were notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:
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EERTHRARRKRSG HBERORES
FrER SR IX R

RZZTTNF=A=1+—8 A2 6SEZRTHREHR
BEHFRAERAE57TREISSKNBRE  ARAIH
EREEEE (EE R (FEHRAEKROD ([FEEH]) %
TR BEMERRBRRSHIRS - BERG RE
FHBEANERSOXR (BIERIEEBIGAIRZE R E KR
REBRIEERNERIORR) - M ATIARIEE BREIE
32T AFENELMA - IRBEIZER EHRAIFES.46
Z5.68{&FTEMARRINANE RNA R RS SOA
BEIMT

(i) Interests in shares of the Company (i) ARrARMDER
Number of ordinary shares
EERRY
Percentage of

Personal Corporate Family Other issued shares
Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total HEERST
Esps BARER rEER RS Hitgs At RABSH
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent - 456,250,348 (L) - 456,250,348 (L) 50.38%
BRSNS (Note 2) (FiizE2)
Mr. George Roger Manho 83,142,254 () - - 83,142,254 (L) 9.18%
BEELE
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung = 456,250,348 (L) = 456,250,348 (L) 50.38%
BRI LA (Note 2) (Fffzt2)
Notes: B3
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. e (L] FRTBRDBER -
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax- 2. I S TS B — 5RO 2R R 20 B S PR L ) A FIRax-

Comm?”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent and Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung held 40.37% and
31.48% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm, respectively.

Comm (BVI) Limited ([Rax-Comm]) FT # & °
200% e o £ R B I Sk & 9 Bl BRax-Comm
40.37%K31.48% KB BITHAD ©
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures (continued)

(ii)  Interests in equity derivatives, as defined in the SFO,
in or in respect of, underlying shares

As at 31 March 2009, the Directors had the following personal
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the Company
granted at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the Company.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.

EERTHRARRKRG HBERORES

FrEENERIXRE (&)

(i) NAFBERZEFHERDITETANER (E

= RERG)

i

AR A ARBE R -

“ETNF=ZA=1+—H  ARREZEFEREAR
AEBEEA BB THERREATREAAR
RO BT R A T EARER - BRBARE

Number
of options Number of Price per share
outstanding shares acquired on to be paid on
at 31 March 2009 exercise of options exercise of
RZZEREF Period during during the year options
=H=+—H which options FRTERRE TRBRE
Name of Director ie R AT RE R Date granted exercisable T FREE AXH
Esps BREHE B AH BRETRAS RAHE SRER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,109,440 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
g xHE —ZTT-¥-A+=H 11 February 2011 0.095/7T
“ET-57\A=t—-HZE
“2—%-RA+-H
Mr. George Roger Manho 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
BEELE “TT-F-A+ZAH 11 February 2011 0.095% 7T
“ZT-5\A=+—-HE
“Z2—%-R+-H
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
BB —“ETE-f+-A 11 February 2011 0.095/87T
22§ )\AZt+-HZE
—2——f-fA+-H
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 19,112,640 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to = HK$0.095
ElNE —FZ-F-Af+=A 11 February 2011 0.0957% 7T
“ZE-4\A-t+—-HE
—Z——4%ZAt+-H
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to - HK$0.095
FlEREL —2Z-F-Af+=AH 11 February 2011 0.0957 7T

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and EERITHEAZHRRG - HEROARES
short positions in shares, underlying shares and FiERHNBHEX AR (&)

debentures (continued)

(iii)  Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company

(i) ALDBARGRAEBERDNETES

Aggregate Aggregate Percentage of
number in number in total
ordinary underlying issued shares
Name of Director shares shares Total HEBTRG
EENA LR At HEE AR 3 45t &t Bk
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 456,250,348 (L) 6,109,440 (L) 462,359,788 (L) 51.06%
BE kA
Mr. George Roger Manho 83,142,254 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 87,142,254 (L) 9.62%
BE ML
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 456,250,348 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 460,250,348 (L) 50.82%
B R 7 52 A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah = 19,112,640 (L) 19,112,640 (L) 2.11%
LeERA
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen - 1,760,000 (L) 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%

FEREL

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the Directors,
chief executive of the Company or their associates had any interests
in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO, which would have to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures”, as at 31 March 2009, neither the Company, holding
company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executive of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities,
including debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company or their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

As at 31 March 2009, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known
to any Director or chief executive of the Company:

ESRITRARBERONEREZNVER

BRUA bt [E S RATEAASNED - BERkD RESAES
B mRAE ] FTREN  RZZEZEAF=A=+—H &
NAE - ERARSEEMMNEA RS ESEEFZE £
ARAREERITRAH A HEZEBEARD R REFEMEA
ERnBOHRERES (BREER) MESHE  MARF
BEERTHRARERENREBREARM T /\KAF LB
BERATREARREFHERN - TETEERZERER

RERKRMD - HEROWESZR AR

REZZNF=R=+—8 REZHEIIE336HTEAET
BENECMAE R EMARREERITRAEMA
THAL (RRABEEHITRAFRIN) RAR BN K
TERAR R A A SR A ¢

Number of Percentage
ordinary of total
shares held issued shares
Name of shareholder g ER HERTREMN
BRER A BRAEHE Biptt
Rax-Comm 456,250,348 50.38%
Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant — MizE: ZEFRMHEN [EBFRITEAINOKN - BERO RES
Directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and FiEBNERRAR | —HRBERABMESNE RS -
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.
Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other % F XTI R—ZSESNEFE=A=+—H  BEEZE

person, other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
Director or chief executive of the Company as at 31 March 2009.

Share option schemes

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 26 to
the financial statements.
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Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company purchased
1,968,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
at prices ranging from HK$0.035 to HK$0.075 per share on the Stock
Exchange.
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NERNEIBER  ARARK P HAGR0ISETE
0.0755% 7E (8% 8 A1,968,0008 4 24 7 I T 60,0178 72
CEETE

Price paid per share

BRZAER
Number of Aggregate
Month/year shares repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
g8 EERGEE X% BS 545
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT I BT
September 2008
—ZEZT)N\FNA 1,552,000 98,288 0.075 0.045
February 2009
—ZETNF=A 100,000 3,729 0.035 0.035
March 2009
—EZNF=AR 316,000 11,728 0.035 0.035
1,968,000 113,745

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly, the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
The premium paid on repurchase was charged against the share premium
account of the Company. The Directors considered that, as the Company’s
shares were trading at a discount to the net asset value per share, the
repurchases would increase the net asset value per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the
above-mentioned period.

Directors’ interests in contracts

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Management contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the year.
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Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 94 of the annual report.

Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the schemes are set out in
note 26 to the financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 March 2009.

Confirmation of independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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Auditors

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited retire and, being eligible offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has not changed its
auditors in the past three years.

By order of the Board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2009
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BAKER TILLY

HONG KONG LIMITED

BB REGTIEBHT AR A
12/E, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
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To the shareholders of
ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “group”) set out on pages 36 to 93, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’
statements

responsibility for the financial

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31
March 2009 and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2009

Lo Wing See

Practising certificate number P04607
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Consolidated Income Statement

e s

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)
Note 2009 —EZEhEF 2008 —EZENF
BdaE HKS$# T HK$# 7T
Turnover L 4,12 77,488,677 77,492,591
Cost of services rendered E IR HE AR B Rk AR (60,766,208) (61,145,217)
Cost of sales BE SRR (1,909,438) (2,159,572)
Gross profit ER 14,813,031 14,187,802
Other income Hipug A 5 337,630 808,516
Administrative expenses THEA (12,851,143) (12,591,780)
Profit from operations KR F 2,299,518 2,404,538
Finance costs B & Bk AR 6(a) (799,671) (1,200,913)
Profit before taxation R 5 A% 7 6 1,499,847 1,203,625
Income tax Frig i 7(a) (185,000) (118,015)
Profit for the year attributable to  7</A 5] I% 58 fE 15 € Ry 55 5
shareholders of the company 10 1,314,847 1,085,610
Earnings per share BREF 11
Basic (HK cents) A () 0.15 0.12
Diluted (HK cents) g (B N/A FiEH 0.12

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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At 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Consolidated Balance Sheet

= A
ma

EERER

REZZBBAF=ZA=+—8 AETIIE)

Note 2009 —ZEZThF 2008 —EZN\F
BiaE HKS$#E T HK$AB 7T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets EEEE 13 372,042 659,642
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE 16 - 1,653,600
372,042 2,313,242
Current assets REEE
Inventories VR 17 1,699,877 1,698,968
Trade and other receivables FEUT B 5 K Ho At B UG bR 3K 18 9,335,196 11,904,911
Income tax recoverable A Uk (Bl BT iS5 Fi 20 - 95,979
Pledged bank deposits BEHEIRIRITF K 21 14,487,961 16,773,222
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEED 21 1,314,366 916,755
26,837,400 31,389,835
Current liabilities REERE
Trade and other payables B8 5 R EAERIRER 22 10,748,386 10,706,053
Provisions B 23 1,934,883 1,599,415
Short-term borrowings REEE 24 2,685,381 10,755,714
Income tax payable FERTFT1S 5L 20 91,995 -
15,460,645 23,061,182
Net current assets REEEFEE 11,376,755 8,328,653
Net assets EEFE 11,748,797 10,641,895
Capital and reserves EXRFEE 27
Share capital R A 9,055,680 9,075,360
Reserves E] 2,693,117 1,566,535
Total equity RS 11,748,797 10,641,895
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June ESEGR =TT NFNA =+ B2 RIEETIE -

2009.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Cheng Kwok Hung
Director

BIEX
5=

B0
5%

B e B B B A AR B L B TS R ) — B D
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38 | Company Balance Sheet
REAIBEEEER

At 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=ZZhF=F=+—H (LLETIIE)

Note 2009 —Z2ZhF 2008 —ZF)\F

BdaE HKS$# T HK$# 7T

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B ATIRE 15 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG LS 15 3,847,037 4,172,843
Other receivables H b pE YR 2R 18 165,035 142,340
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRE2EEY 21 37,769 157

4,049,841 4,315,340
Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued charges and other payables  fE&HE B & H M E IR 22 604,733 716,017
Net current assets REBEERE 3,445,108 3,599,323
Net assets EEFEE 7,445,108 7,599,323
Capital and reserves EXRFEE 27
Share capital i@ 9,055,680 9,075,360
Reserves (B4 (1,610,572) (1,476,037)
Total equity wmER 7,445,108 7,599,323

Al
Al

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June ERGN_ZTTNFNAZ+HBARERKETE -

20009.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung &% SR i
Director Director 5 =

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  FI#sEIB s B4R I B RE N —215
statements.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GABRBBE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

Reserves
e
Investment
Share Share Merger Exchange  revaluation  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HEER REfE
e R &E AbRE i i 2EER CH
HK$H& T HKS$7& T HK$HE T HK$HE 7 HKS$/E7 HK$/E T HK$H& T
Balance at 1 April 2007 REZZZLENA-BER 9,075,360 22,816,249 10,748,910 186,913 (71,500)  (33,610,314) 9,145,618
Exchange difference arising on SEBINERIEL
translation of foreign operation NEHZE - - - 244,967 - - 244,967
Increase in fair value of available- MEHESREE
for-sale financial assets MATEEEN - = - = 165,700 = 165,700
Net income recognised directly REREERANRNFE
in equity - - - 244,967 165,700 - 410,667
Profit for the year EREF = = = = - 1,085,610 1,085,610
Total recognised income and ERERAMARE LEE
expense for the year - - - 244,967 165,700 1,085,610 1,496,277
Balance at 31 March 2008 and RZZEN\F=A=1-HE
1 April 2008 ZZZ)\fMA-REH 9075360 22,816,249 10,748,910 431,880 94200  (32,524,704) 10,641,895
Reserve realised on disposal of HEMRNESREE
available-for-sale financial assets HGEER - - - - (94,200) - (94,200)
Net expense recognised directly NERERERN T HFE
in equity - - - - (94,200) - (94,200)
Profit for the year ERah] = = - - - 1314847 1314847
Total recognised income and ENERAMART BEE
expense for the year - - - - (94,200) 1,314,847 1,220,647
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)il) ~ EIEER(3 (Frzk27(a)i) (19,680) (94,065) = = = = (113,745)
Balance at 31 March 2009 R-ZENEZA=1—-RE 9,055,630 22,722,184 10,748,910 431,830 - (31,209,857) 11,748,797
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  FI#sEIFt s B4R I E BRI —215

statements.



40 | Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

Note 2009 —EEhF 2008 —ZTEN\F
Bt HK$# T HK$E T
Cash flows from operating activities EE%¥BRLRE
Profit before taxation BB AT F 1,499,847 1,203,625
Adjustments for: BT & IEEL R
— Depreciation — I E 6(c) 399,206 293,619
— Loss on disposal of fixed assets —HEBRTEEEE 6(c) 2,348 1,294
— Write-down of inventories —FEHE 6(c) 227,859 258,197
— Gain on disposal of financial assets ~ — HERAFBE ABZE
at fair value through profit or loss L HEE S 5 - (26,026)
— Gain on disposal of available- - HEJHLESREENKE
for-sale financial assets 5 (20,880) -
— Investment income from available- —AHEESREEMNRE Bs
for-sale financial assets 5 (35,646) (24,960)
— Interest income — MBEWKA 5 (221,307) (503,208)
— Interest expenses — FBETH 6(a) 799,671 1,200,913
Operating profit before changes in A& EE LB FHFIH S HEF
working capital 2,651,098 2,403,454
Increase in inventories FEE (228,768) (31,981)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and FEWE 5 K Hqth e R OB 2> (38 HN)
other receivables 2,569,715 (1,309,207)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FERTE 5 R HMmEMRETUE N, )
other payables 42,333 (1,132,003)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions BRI ORd) 335,468 (560,928)
Cash generated from/(used in) EXELE (TR RE
operations 5,369,846 (630,665)
Interest paid BRFE (799,671) (1,200,913)
Tax refund R [EIF R 179,937 191,543
Tax paid BB (176,963) (205,127)
Net cash generated from/(used in) E&EKEL (FA) ReFE
operating activities 4,573,149 (1,845,162)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Bt e B B S A AR B L T B TS R ) — BB 4D -



For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2008-2009 4 i

BE_ZZNF=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

Note 2009 —EEhF 2008 —EZ\F
s HKS# T HK$E 7T

Cash flows from investing activities R&EEFHHRERE
Purchase of fixed assets BEETEE (113,954) (159,780)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERATEEFAEREREED

assets at fair value through profit Fi{8 k1A

or loss - 38,186
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- HE& At HE4 @ EERTSRIE

sale financial assets 1,580,280 -
Investment income from available-for- At E S R EERKREWRA

sale financial assets 35,646 24,960
Interest received BUFIE 221,307 503,208
Net cash generated from investing REEBHELRLSTE

activities 1,723,279 406,574
Cash flows from financing activities RB&EEHRERE
Repurchase of shares EATE) (113,745) =
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank EHEIRRITEZORD (38 0)

deposits 2,285,261 (966,333)
(Decrease)/increase in bank loans, net  #R1T{EE i) L HiNFEE (4,056,353) 306,048
Repayment of other borrowings 1%“53,@1{1@1%% - (648,716)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEHFARSEE (1,884,837) (1,309,001)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BRERBRLZEYFEE M, ORD)

cash equivalents 4,411,591 (2,747,589)
Cash and cash equivalents REA—BNRERRSEEY

at 1 April (3.383,222) (878,814)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E &R & e £ - 243,181
Cash and cash equivalents R=ZA=Z+—-BNBEERELEEY

at 31 March 21 1,028,369 (3,383,222)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  FI#sEIFt s B4R I E BRI —215

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of its operating subsidiaries is Units
1005-07, Level 10, Manulife Provident Funds Place, 345 Nathan
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company’s shares are listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the company collectively
referred to as the “group”) are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the company, as at 31 March
2009, Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), is its immediate and ultimate holding
company. This entity does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also the
functional currency of the company.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the group is set out below.

—REHR

ITE (Holdings) Limited (AR @]]) AR S S
B —RERRBR AR - Hafit 2 ACricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2009 comprise the company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise stated in
the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next
year are discussed in note 32.

(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control exists
when the group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are

presently exercisable are taken into account.

2

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2008-2009 4 i

EEEQ’—I-IE&% (nlﬁ
(b) #HREER|

BE_ZTNF=ZA=1+—HLEFENGE PR
REBARRREMBARNRE -

g

BIAT &t RIS -
RERBIEE -

AN B 75 i 3k 45 VA JE S B AR

PR & BB B MEEANNMBEEHRE - EXRE

BERAZERREANEE  BF  KARRX
M2 WS BIEL HE - (At RBR&R - ARG KRB

BRRDRBBALR  URZEELBERTHERE
BAENEMRAEMEL - A BAERBEKERE
H ity B R HRBR B B E M B B ROIRE 1F  #Ef #
Hit - BIRAERTERBRMGS AR -

RARERHETEREABRIETHEE -
SEIHEFTNEREXEZYME  MERTE fEEJF

R HMBER - KA AHENEREAIMK
ARIEARE - B BE R B S B i R oA 2 B o s e

MFE32mtl B B A EH B M B M EERFEL R

A R A E AR B RROEAZE - REERT
FEELHERABRNERRR -

(0 MWEBAF

MEBRABNAEEZEGNAR - EAKRE AR

nu»

ZEBNI S REERER vﬂz%ﬁﬁt?&ﬁiﬁbqﬂﬂx’a
Pz YR ASZAERITEH - REH TR B
FTRIBITA FATENBTIRERE -

43



44 | Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(f)).

(d)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs. At each balance sheet date the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised directly in equity. Investment income from these
financial assets is recognised in profit or loss. When these financial
assets are derecognised or impaired (see note 2(f)), the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in
profit or loss.

(e) Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of fixed assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of fixed

assets, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-

line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 4 years

— Furniture and fixtures 4 years

— Computer and other 4 years

equipment

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

2
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets and other
receivables

Other receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost and
available-for-sale financial assets are at least tested annually for
impairment and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

If any event or change in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined
and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables and other financial assets
carried at cost or amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised cost share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar
to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been

recognised in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets and other
receivables (continued)

- For available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
that has been recognised directly in equity is removed
from equity and is recognised in profit or loss. The amount
of the cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss
is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of
available-for-sale financial assets are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of
such assets is recognised directly in equity.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale financial
assets are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment
losses in such circumstances are recognised in profit or

loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect
of trade receivables included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using
an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to the debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- fixed assets
- investments in subsidiaries; and
- goodwill

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of

impairment.
- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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BRI RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)
- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to
sell, or value in use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

(9) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is offset against the expenses in the period in which
the reversal occurs.

(h) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts (see note 2(f)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

(i) Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the balance sheet date.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately. When the outcome of a service contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Service contracts in progress at the balance sheet date are
recorded in the balance sheet at the net amount of costs incurred
plus recognised profits less recognised losses and progress billings,
and are presented in the balance sheet as the “Gross amount
due from customers for service contract work” (as an asset) or
the “Gross amount due to customers for service contract work”
(as a liability), as applicable. Progress billings not yet paid by the
customers are included in the balance sheet under “Trade and
other receivables”. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the balance sheet under “Trade and

other payables”.
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2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement.

(k) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(n)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

() Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in
equity, in which case they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Further taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable rights to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

(n)  Financial guarantees issued, provision and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in

profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial guarantees issued, provision and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group or the company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
(o) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss, except those arising from foreign currency borrowings
used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised directly in equity.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items, including
goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired
on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into HK$ at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised directly in a separate
component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a
foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at
the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition
of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences recognised in equity which relate to that
foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit or loss
on disposal.

(p)  Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID"”) and information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

(ii) Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued)
(iii) Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have not
been completed on or before the balance sheet date are shown in
the balance sheet as deferred maintenance income.

(iv) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other
sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

(vi) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the group for the cost of an asset are deducted in
arriving at the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(90 Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

(r) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

(s) Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the year in which
they are incurred.

(u)  Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the group or exercise
significant influence over the group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the group;

(ii) the group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the group or a joint venture in
which the group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of
the group or the group’s parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the group or of any entity that
is a related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UAETIIE)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v)  Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a particular
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to
risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the group’s internal financial reporting system,
the group has chosen business segment information as the primary
reporting format and geographical segment information as the
secondary reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include
items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. Segment
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before
intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated
as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such
intra-group balances and transactions are between group entities
within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar
terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the
year to acquire segment assets, both tangible and intangible, that
are expected to be used for more than one year.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets,
interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances, corporate and
financing expenses.

Changes in accounting policies

In the current year, the group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to its operations and effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2008.
The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result
in substantial changes to the group’s accounting policies and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see note
33). Consequently, there have been no significant changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial statements for the
years presented as a result of these developments.
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Turnover 4

The principal activities of the group are the provision of smartcard
systems and related services, manufacture, research and sales of
service related products and provision of IT consultancy services.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers
and revenue from services rendered. The amount of each
significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year is as follows:

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2008-2009 4§

EXRE

AEENEEXBR/REDE R RGRBERE -
HE - R REERGERE R KR HE AR KR
e AR A5

EEERELERTREPNHEEREHRB R
& FARARERBFNEEZDRKENT ¢

2009 —ZEZThF 2008 —ZZ)\F
HK$#E T HK$#E T
Provision of smartcard systems, RFID and 2£t%5 88K 4% - 51581 &%
IT services A B RS
— Service revenue — RS 9,520,123 19,671,944
— Income from maintenance services — RERBEUWA 7,686,201 4,329,537
— Sales of service related products — HERFEBE® 3,040,183 3,397,378
20,246,507 27,398,859
Consultancy income FER RIS U 57,242,170 50,093,732
77,488,677 77,492,591
Other income 5 HfulgA
2009 —ZEZThF 2008 —ZEZ)\F
HK$E T HK$E T
Interest income FEMWA 221,307 503,208
Gain on disposal of financial assets HeERANFEBESFAEBSZ SR
at fair value through profit or loss BEKR - 26,026
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEHEESREERS
financial assets 20,880 -
Investment income from AHEESREENRERA
available-for-sale financial assets 35,646 24,960
Compensation for secondment of staff 8 THERAI#IE 44,813 22,446
Government grant (note) BiF#EhE (M) 13,984 186,016
Sundry income HAb A 1,000 45,860
337,630 808,516

Note:  In January 2007, the group successfully applied for a grant from
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("HKSAR"). The purpose of the grant is to encourage innovation to

commercial entities whose research projects meet certain criteria.

FiaE

REZZFZELF—F AEERBGEBE T
BEBRFOHBE  WEHBEHE N ARBR

AETHRENEERENFEESR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BA RS R RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

6 Profit before taxation 6

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRILADR N E R

2009 —ZEZThEF 2008 —EZN\F
HK$E T HK$ T
(@)  Finance costs: (a) RUE R ¢
Interest on bank loans and RITEEREZHE
overdrafts 728,015 1,152,093
Interest on other borrowings HEER S 71,656 48,820
799,671 1,200,913
(b)  Staff costs*: (b) BT A
Salaries, wages and other benefits He  TEREMEF 60,352,839 54,870,901
Retirement scheme RIRETEIE R (MI5E25)
contributions (note 25) 2,158,016 2,126,673
62,510,855 56,997,574
(c)  Other items: () HMIEg -
Auditor's remuneration ZEE < 325,000 380,000
Cost of inventories** FE R A 5,311,221 11,599,124
Depreciation e 399,206 293,619
Development costs TR A 1,409,669 1,103,966
Exchange loss X E1E 15,856 119,590
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEBTEEEEE 2,348 1,294
Operating lease charges: KEHHERS
minimum lease payments HEEERE
— hire of properties o EX = 1,937,300 1,852,468
— hire of office equipment — ARIRERE 29,103 9,600
Write-down of inventories FEWRE 227,859 258,197
# Staff costs included HK$1,121,084 (2008: HK$882,328) relating to # BIXARIELI084B T (ZEZTNF:
development costs, which amount is also disclosed separately in note 882,328/ L) MIFZAA « W EHEKARD LM
6(0). 6B -
## Cost of inventories included HK$227,859 (2008: HK$258,197) relating ## FEK KB 227,859 T (Z B FE )\ F:

to write-down of inventories, which amount is also disclosed separately

258,19787L) FEIE - WEFBITECEME

in note 6(c). 6(C) B ©
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Income tax in the consolidated income
statement

7
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REWBRHOAEHR

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents: (a) LAWK AP FRIBIE
2009 —ZEhEF 2008 —EZENF
HK$#E 7T HK$/& 7T
Hong Kong profits tax BAAEH
— Provision for the year — FNEE 210,120 116,000
— Over-provision in respect of prior years — B EZRHE (25,120) =
185,000 116,000
Overseas taxation HNRIE
— Under-provision in respect of prior years - RERETR = 2,015
185,000 118,015

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2008: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for income tax in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") and Macao have been made in the financial statements as
the group did not have any assessable profits for taxation purpose
in the PRC and Macao during the year (2008: HK$Nil).

FANBRABREZRERTUEMNIA165% (ZF
T)N\F 17.5%) & - BIHIMIRERBUE M BLIR -
AN RIRBRITEN 2B RERAKELSH
RHRITREAE -

AR BN R EARKAE (5 E)) RR
PYRTRR e - A8 B 4R S Mo B SRR PIERR
B(CBBNE BB -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BA RS R RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UETIIE)

7 Income tax in the consolidated income 7 BEWBERNFAEH (&)
statement (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit (b) R IE 2 R st A 80 8 A B 3R a0 FE e an

at applicable tax rate: T:

2009 =EZhF 2008 —ZF/)\F

HK$#E 7T HK$E 7T

Profit before taxation AL AR T 1,499,847 1,203,625
Notional tax at the applicable tax rate of #£#£16.5% (ZZEZ/\F : 17.5%)

16.5% (2008: 17.5%) 8 FA R R A R ER 18 247,474 210,634
Tax effect of temporary differences not ERZEMHRIETE

recognised 51,199 15,402
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARTBRANTRBTE (10,571) (6,694)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — “NA] HJE & A A B 1§ 2 & 12,370 1,993
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERRABARBEENRGEZE

recognised 381,866 361,308
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B @A RERH BB EOHRIEFLE

previously recognised (449,136) (345,376)
Tax effect of different tax rates of RlEENGIFES Syl o N

subsidiaries operating in other s E

jurisdictions (52,046) (123,679)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEN (ZHBE), BERE (25,120) 2,015
Others Hith 28,964 2,412

Actual tax expense BERHES L 185,000 118,015
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Directors’ remuneration 8 EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BIREIZER EMRAIRES R REHIE1611KEKEE
Rules and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is WEEMESFBENT :
as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2009
fees in kind contributions Total
e BMER —EZThE
EEME BEYF = B RSB RR &ast
HK$#E T HK$# T HK$7% T HK$#E T
Executive directors WITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2% ¢ 54 125,000 526,000 12,000 663,000
Mr. George Roger Manho BERE - 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BB 7 5 A 125,000 432,000 12,000 569,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah BgERE 50,000 - - 50,000
350,000 958,000 24,000 1,332,000
Independent non-executive B IEETESR
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZhEmE L 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony — BIZZ 815t 4 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry BB 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total SEr 690,000 958,000 24,000 1,672,000
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2008
fees in kind contributions Total
e EZER —ET)N\F
E5WS B &= RIRET B =X
HK$Z T HK$B7T HK$Z T HK$7 7T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2% ¢ 54 - 624,000 12,000 636,000
Mr. George Roger Manho BRI E 12,500 90,000 4,500 107,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BB 1 S A - 624,000 12,000 636,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah RgERE - 72,000 3,600 75,600
12,500 1,410,000 32,100 1,454,600
Independent non-executive BN ITES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZERE L 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony — BIZBf 54 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry AL A 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total A&t 352,500 1,410,000 32,100 1,794,600
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UAETIIE)

10

1"

Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EBeEHAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2008: RENZEHFALF MU (Z2EENEF : WAL)
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The BES  FENMESEHNRMES  EH= (=F
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2008: TNE: =) &EeFs ATHMeAEAT

three) individuals are as follows:

2009 —EFNF 2008 —TZT)N\F

HK$#E T HKS$B 7T
Salaries and other emoluments e R EMEE 1,954,912 1,718,100
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B3R 36,000 36,000
1,990,912 1,754,100
The emoluments of the three (2008: three) individuals with the =N (ZTENFE: =) EeFATHMEN T
highest emoluments are within the following band: RT3 EE :

2009 —EEhF 2008 —ZZT)\F

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ALTEE ATEH
HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 7T — 1,000,000/ 7T B S

Profit for the year attributable to 10 ZA&ATREELFERZER
shareholders of the company

The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of the RRARRRELEGE & HBE—ERE40,4708 T
company includes a loss of HK$40,470 (2008: a profit of BB (ZTT)N\E  #M112,81787T) » ZER
HK$112,817) which has been dealt with in the financial JHERAR RIS RR NEIE o

statements of the company.

Earnings per share 11 SREF

(a)  Basic earnings per share (a) EBRELRZER

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BRERRAF T IE R R EAS & 71,314,847 7T
attributable to shareholders of the company of HK$1,314,847 —ETNF 1,0856108 L) RFRE ETR
(2008: HK$1,085,610) and the weighted average of 906,675,507 2 B9 O #E S 29 A% 81906,675,507A% (ZZEZ )\ 4F :

(2008: 907,536,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year. 907,536,0000% ) Li@ARETE
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12

Earnings per share (continued)
(b) Diluted earnings per share

No diluted earnings per share is presented for the year as there
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence for the year
ended 31 March 2009.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2008 was based on the profit attributable to shareholders
of the company of HK$1,085,610 and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 926,811,115 shares, calculated as

follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

11

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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ZRAERN (&)
(b) BREERF
BE-FTNF=A=+ - ALFELREETH

SBEE  BEZ5ISREEAT -

HE_ZZN\F=-ZA=Z1+—HLLFE SK#EER
A Th 2 A% B3 FE 15 5% 71,085,610 T & NI ERE
1T 9 AN 15 B 28926,811,115/% & BAK 5T

3w

I B g Ak (B#5E)

2008 —ZEEN\F

Weighted average number of ordinary shares R=A=+—HBrEBRMETERE

at 31 March 907,536,000
Effect of deemed issue of shares under RBARRRDRA RN B AR ST B AR 1E

the company’s share option scheme BEEITRONTZE

for nil consideration 19,275,115
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R=RA=+—HB®OEBERINEFIDRE

(diluted) at 31 March (B#5H) 926,811,115

Segment reporting

Segment information is presented in respect of the group’s
business and geographical segments. Business segment
information is chosen as the primary reporting format because this
is more relevant to the group’s internal financial reporting.

(a) Business segments
The group comprises the following main business segments:

Smartcard systems, The provision of smartcard systems,

RFID and IT services RFID and IT services

Consultancy services The provision of IT consultancy

services

DERE

AEBEREB B2 D MER - REBERE
NEBLHBOARERTBHRERA  ARERE
RRAEENAERE B HE -

BREREL REBERES

51 SR8 Rl Ko BT SRR K2
BAMBRT BB RS
R AR RHEMH AR RS
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UAETIIE)

12 Segment reporting (continued) 12 oHHFE (E)
(a)  Business segments (continued) (a) EXKHI (&)
Smartcard systems, Consultancy
RFID and IT services services Consolidated
BHFRE  GERA
READHRE RS e
2009 =FERE 2008 “TTAF 2009 =BENE 2008 =TT/\F 2009 “EBRE 2008 —TITN\F
HKSETT HK$#TT HKSETT HK$ATT HKS$HE 7T HK$77T

TURNOVER e
Revenue from external customers 14N P HY UL 25 20,246,507 27,398,859 57,242,170 50,093,732 71,488,677 77,492,591
RESULTS ES
Segment results DEPFELE (3,526,269) (2,654,019) 7,166,104 5,910,767 3,639,835 3,256,748
Unallocated corporate revenue &k F o BR (b 2 Mz 278,833 600,054
Unallocated corporate expenses < T 23 it 1> 2 & FB (1,619,150) (1,452,264)
Profit from operations &R 2,299,518 2,404,538
Finance costs & R A (799,671) (1,200,913)
Profit before taxation Bk B AT Vs 7 1,499,847 1,203,625
Income tax FRiST5 (185,000) (118,015)
Profit for the year FAREM 1,314,847 1,085,610
ASSETS EE
Segment assets DEEE 5,802,621 10,047,231 5,439,460 4,073,951 11,242,081 14,121,182
Unallocated assets RFDEEE 15,967,361 19,581,895
Total assets BEA: 27,209,442 33,703,077
LIABILITIES aE
Segment liabilities DEARE 3,971,475 4,834,949 7,949,037 6,754,503 11,920,512 11,589,452
Unallocated liabilities KFHEEE 3,540,133 11,471,730
Total liabilities BEAEF 15,460,645 23,061,182
OTHER INFORMATION Hib &R
Capital expenditure =¥ 113,799 147,546 155 12,234 113,954 159,780
Depreciation e 393,060 278,809 6,146 14,810 399,206 293,619

Write-down of inventories FEWE 227,859 258,197 - - 227,859 258,197
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Segment Reporting (continued) 12 oHHFE (H)
(b)  Geographical segments (b) b3 D E
The group participates principally in Hong Kong, Macao and the REBTEAERE - PEASIRPIREER o
PRC.
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segment, R 2 ERE - 2 BATIRE P RE
segment revenue is based on the geographical location of HE D - HEEERERNAZIIRE EMEMEE
customers. Segment assets and capital expenditure are based on % ©
the geographical location of the assets.
Hong Kong Macao The PRC Other locations Consolidated
B A Ll Rfbshh &4
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEIAE C2I\E CEBAFE CET)\F CEBAF CET/\F CZEEAE -TT\F ZBEAE —I3)\E
HKSBT  HKSBTL  HKSBR  HKSE7T  HKSHBRm  HKSBT  HKSBr  HKSBT  HKSBT  HKS#:R
Revenue from external ¥V EF I
customers 70285419 62,164,676 6,411,766 12411714 369,025 415597 422,467 2,500,604 77,488,677 77,492,591
Segment assets PHEE 25,975,392 28,349,361 853,543 2,906,585 380,507 1,126,435 - 1320696 27,209,442 33,703,077
Capital expenditure BRREY 111517 108,254 2,437 21,721 - 29,799 - - 113954 159,780
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE

“EENF=ZA=T-RIEFE GABTTINE)

13 Fixed assets 13 EBEEEE
The group REHE
Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements and fixtures equipment Total
BR
HEWEEE BEMRRE Hib ast
HK$#E 7T HK$%E 7T HK$%& 7T HK$7E 7T

Cost: AR A
At 1 April 2007 R=ZZLFMWA—H 539,133 448,949 2,868,081 3,856,163
Additions NE - 16,600 143,180 159,780
Disposals/written off & s = (13,184) (118,405) (131,589)
Exchange adjustments bEE 3 3 28 - 4,191 15,293 19,484
At 31 March 2008 and RZZEENF=A=+—H

1 April 2008 EZZTN\FMHA—A 539,133 456,556 2,908,149 3,903,838
Additions NE - 2,437 119,50% 113,954
Disposals/written off HE - (55,183) (157,630) (212,813)
At 31 March 2009 —EZNF=A=+—H 539,133 403,810 2,862,036 3,804,979
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHiTE :
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZTLFMWA—H 80,568 430,889 2,551,717 3,063,174
Charge for the year FRFTE 134,755 10,393 148,471 293,619
Written back on disposals/ HER T

written off - (13,184) 117,111) (130,295)
Exchange adjustments FE 5, A% - 4,099 13,599 17,698
At 31 March 2008 and RZZEENF=A=+—H

1 April 2008 ;EZFEENFOA—H 215,323 432,197 2,596,676 3,244,196
Charge for the year FAFE 235,498 8,723 154,985 399,206
Written back on disposals/ HER ST

written off - (55,183) (155,282) (210,465)
At 31 March 2009 —ETNF=A=1+—H 450,821 385,737 2,596,379 3,432,937
Carrying amount: REE
At 31 March 2009 R_BEZNF=A=+—H 88,312 18,073 265,657 372,042
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—H 323,810 24,359 311,473 659,642
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14 Goodwill 14 BE
The group
rEE
HK$E T
Cost %N
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008, RZZEZT+FMNA—H  —TT/\F=A=+—H "
1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 T ) \FHNA—BAR-_ZETAF=A=+—8H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation ES ¢ 3
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008, RZEZT+FWNA—H —ZTEN\F=A=+—H"
1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 2 \FHA—BRER=ZZTNAF=A=+—8H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss ERREREE
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008, RZZTZTLFWA—H - ZTTN\F=A=+—8
1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 T N\FHA-BR-ZETNAF=-A=1+—H 6,338,616

15

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2009

R E &

R-FEAF=A=1-A

At 31 March 2008

2T\ F=A=1—§

A

[
A4

Z

Investments in subsidiaries

15 HERIAARE

The company

RAFE]
2009 —ETNEF 2008 —ZEZN\F
HK$#E T HK$# T
Unlisted investments, at cost ELETRE (RA) 4,000,000 4,000,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE P /B A R IR X 3,847,037 4,172,843

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

o

i

FEM BB R ARG REER - R B RBRENRE
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE

15

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ of ownership

“EENF=ZA=T-RIEFE GABTTINE)

15

NTREIEXE

AFFHIE BB -

Particulars of
issued and

MEARRE (&)

AEBEWEE  EEREENNE
Fris A & E R o

Name of company establishment interest paid up capital Principal activities
a1 P ol ERITRHZ
AR PR 3L 3t B WEDL R FHE FEEK
Indirect
i3
ITE Smartcard Solutions Hong Kong 100% 3,418,336 shares of Provision of smartcard systems
Limited B HK$1 each and related services and sales
BERGARAR 3,418,3368% of service related products
(BREE1AT) TRALER BE R R4 S B R IR 7S S
HERGEEER
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 2 shares of HK$1 each Manufacture and research of
B 28R (BREE1ET) smartcard system and service
related products
HEMAREERRZGHEBER
ITE (China) Limited (note) PRC 100% United States dollars Provision of smartcard systems
LR RS ERSBRAF H ("US$") 700,000 and related services
(Bt 3E) 700,000 7T REEB R AR REARY
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 6,500,000 shares of Provision of IT consultancy
R RGEEERAF B HK$1 each services
6,500,0004% A R RS
(BREME1ET)
ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada Macao 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems
B R5 CRF) BR AT SELPY (“MOP") 25,000 and related services and sales

25,0008 P9 #

of service related products
REEE RS REERE R
SHE RSB E

Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an

operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

F&E -

LEEMYEKERAGAERABD R —KX2IIED

¥ geEBA—t+F R-TE-—FXA=-1K

HEm °

ERIITEEZR

REBEFEET
Y sk B At Y 8 &

REIBXEAEEAFERERRS
ZERINOMELR - EERA

AEIEHEERREANIIE -
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16 Available-for-sale financial assets 16 FAHHEEHEE
The group &=5H
2009 —EZhEF 2008 —ZTZ )N\ F
HK$E T HK$B 7T
Guaranteed fund, at fair value REES (BAFEE) = 1,653,600
17 Inventories 17 EE
Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise: RiEEEEABRNFERR
The group &&E
2009 —EThEF 2008 —ZBTN\F
HK$#E T HK$# 7T
Raw materials B 805,289 1,016,388
Work in progress EES 226,539 163,690
Finished goods RUAK T 668,049 518,890
1,699,877 1,698,968
18 Trade and other receivables 18 FEWE S K H i Wk
The group "% E The company A2 7]
2009 —ZEFAE 2008 —ZT/\F 2009 —FEZFhE 2008 _TZ/\F
HKS$E T HK$E T HKS$# T HK$E 7T
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 6,903,675 5,568,564 - =
Other receivables H A FEUIR X 457,511 549,711 165,035 142,340
Gross amount due from M EFRIRBEE L
customers for service TiEsIEmE (fzE19)
contract work (note 19) 531,999 4,598,266 - -
Retention money receivables EUURE & 67,923 177,965 = =
Deposits and prepayments HEIGE $-4= 1,374,088 1,010,405 - -
9,335,196 11,904,911 165,035 142,340

All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits
of HK$1,950 (2008: HK$550,074), of the group are expected to
be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Br 3Lk A5 21,9508 T (Z T T J\F : 550,074
J0) Bl @SN - AEBMMETE EUE 5 & E i FE U
RIER —FARIREI S ERAEER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UAETIIE)

18 Trade and other receivables (continued) 18

(@) The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at

EWE S R A EWiRR (&)

(@) REEREWEZRAIRE DTN

the balance sheet date is as follows: ™
The group &A5£E
2009 —EZThEF 2008 — T N\F
HK$#E T HK$E T

Current ZHA 499,583 270,947

Less than 1 month past due BHDR—E A 4,990,969 3,467,381

1 month to 3 months past due BE—EAZE=EH 1,381,703 1,228,196
More than 3 months but less than

1 year past due BEEB=EAEIR—F 31,420 602,040

Amounts past due BHEIE R 6,404,092 5,297,617

6,903,675 5,568,564

Trade receivables are due within 45 days (2008: 60 days) from the
date of billing. Further details on the group’s credit policy are set
out in note 28(a).

(b)  Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired are set out in note 18(a).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

EWEZRFBEEBBISK(ZEZT)/\F 60
X) REH - FBHARMF28@)AEENEER
&® o

(b) RERENEKEZIRK

M EE18(a) FEUE B IR B IRk D AT IR B BR 0 K
2 EIRME °

FEWIRFOL A AR E A RSO B PR A R R

EBHERIEFTERERENBUEFEEEAR
MRER - RIBBERLR  EEERGUHEEHREE
SEXEBEERBRBRERER 2 BURD AR
BIELREER - AEEREFA U S EREMN
BHERY -
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19 Service contracts in progress 19 ETFHEREEN
The group =58
2009 —Z2ENEF 2008 —EZ)N\F
HK$#E T HK$#E T
Contract costs incurred plus recognised =4 B Z AR INEE R TR E

profits less recognised losses to date GEINERN:) ] 2,178,185 27,908,214
Less: Progress billings W EEN RS (2,077,690) (23,563,021)
100,495 4,345,193

Gross amount due from customers for W E P RRIEA L
service contract work (note 18) TREFaERE (MizE18) 531,999 4,598,266

Gross amount due to customers for ENRERREEH
service contract work (note 22) TREFELEE (fiz22) (431,504) (253,073)
100,495 4,345,193

20 Income tax in the consolidated balance 20

sheet

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated balance

sheet represents:

mEEERBERNAEHR

(a) HEEEREBERNOMEHRE:

The group &5£H

2009 —EThF 2008 —ZEZT)N\F
HK$#E 7T HK$E 7T
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax for FREBFNESTHEE
the year 210,120 116,000
Under-provision for overseas taxation in FEFINRIERET R
prior years - 2,015
210,120 118,015
Provisional profits tax paid BERBERIEH (109,258) (203,112)
Balance of profits tax provision relating RPEENSHEBEEH
to prior years (8,867) (10,882)
Income tax payable/(recoverable) e/ (RTURE) ARISHE 91,995 (95,979)
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE

20

21

“EENF=ZA=T-RIEFE GABTINE)

Income tax in the consolidated balance 20 HKREEESBERNAEHR (&)
sheet (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) KRERELEMREEE
Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary differences 3 3B B 18 1Y B =R B v A1) £ 2R A A8 BE A 7% Al 2=
and tax losses carried forward due to the uncertainty of the WAEE WU EREREZERAMNBTEEERD
related tax benefit being realised through future taxable profits. REHEEEFERER - RZZEZNF=ZA=+
The tax effect on temporary differences and unrecognised tax =g gﬁ%%%ﬁ&ﬂiﬁﬁiﬁﬂlﬁﬁﬂﬁE’\J%ﬁﬁ%%%i’]
losses was approximately HK$7,222,000 (2008: HK$8,099,000) as 7,222,000 7C (ZZFZ/\F : 8,099,000/ 7T) °
at 31 March 2009. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses BAREEEE M EENTBERLMAE - 5&6&?&1&5
of HK$822,000, HK$981,428, HK$1,013,949, HK$794,373 and 18 8 15822,000/% 7T + 981,428/ 7T + 1,013,949/%8
HK$224,689 that will expire in December 2009, 2010, 2012, 2013 JC * 794,373 1% 224,6898 T D RIR=FZ 1
and 2014 respectively according to the prevailing tax laws and £ - _T—TF T _F ZFT-=FR_-ZF
regulations in the jurisdiction in which the group operates. Other —HFE+Z AL - MEMEERR KA -
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
(©)  Deferred tax liabilities (0 EENEARE
At 31 March 2009 there were no significant unrecognised deferred RZTETh&=A E‘I—* B8R B A ERARER
tax liabilities (2008: HK$Nil). BEEFREAE (Z2SN\F : T8L) -
Cash and cash equivalents 21 BRERBAEEZEY
The group &5 H The company A A
2009 —EFAF 2008 —TT/\F 2009 —FEhE 2008 —TTN\F
HK$#E HK$ T HKS$#E HK$E T
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHESR 1,314,366 581,685 37,769 157
Time deposits EHER 14,487,961 17,108,292 - -
15,802,327 17,689,977 37,769 157
Less: Pledged bank deposits & BRSBTS
(note 24(c)) (F7E24(0)) (14,487,961) (16,773,222) - -
Cash and cash equivalents in BEABBRRNES K
the balance sheet BELEED 1,314,366 916,755 37,769 157
Bank overdrafts (note 24) RITEX (MHit24) (285,997) (4,299,977)
Cash and cash equivalents HERERERNER
in the consolidated cash FREEHEEY
flow statement 1,028,369 (3,383,222)

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for terms of three months
(2008: between one month and three months) depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the group.

RITERFESWANFERET HRTERER
MEmEs - FHERFH-—HR=MEH (ZZZN
F:—EAN=EA) RIAEEHESF KL
Z2REME -
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Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 21 BHERRESEEY (8)
Included in the cash and cash equivalents of the group as at 31 RZZETZNF=ZA=+—H x5EHNHE2RH
March 2009 is an amount of HK$144,409 (2008: HK$746,702) S EBYBEAHKL44,409B T (ZEZNF:
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). Conversion of RMB into 746,702 7T) MARKE ARBEHRBRTIX
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC Foreign Exchange Control CREISNE B IR 501D Rk (HEE - SERMNESER
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment JE ) PR -
of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
Trade and other payables 22 ERNEZRHEAMEMIRK
The group &"&@ The company &2 F]
2009 —EFAE 2008 —TFT/\F 2009 —EFhF 2008 —TT/\F
HK$#E HK$E T HKS$#E HK$E T
Trade payables B SRR 594,016 1,796,043 - =
Accrued charges and FEET B A R EoAth FE AT IR 3R
other payables 8,494,785 7,722,417 604,733 716,017
Gross amount due to BRBRERNRBEEL
customers for service TiEFUALREE
contract work (note 19) (FF7E19) 431,504 253,073 - -
Deferred maintenance income iEFE/RE U A 1,055,657 920,120 - =
Retention money payables ERRE S 14,400 14,400 - =
Deposits received 2HETE 158,024 - - =
10,748,386 10,706,053 604,733 716,017

All of the trade and other payables, apart from certain deferred
maintenance income of HK$61,750 (2008: HK$55,000), of the
group are expected to be settled or recognised as income within
one year or are repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the balance sheet date,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

BRELREERERARE6,7508 T (ZFF

£ : 55,000/ 7T) 4b

N

AEBRNENE S REME

MR EIERR —FAX N EEREERER R

A e

BER AU EENE SRR

BAOMIAT

The group &5H

2009 —ZENEF 2008 —EZENF

HKS$#E T HK$ 7T
Less than 1 month PR —@EA 223,058 624,181
1 month to 3 months —Z=fEA 303,547 882,625
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BB =1& {8 LA —4F 9,181 229,806
More than 1 year e —F 58,230 59,431
594,016 1,796,043
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-ZZAF=A=+—HIFE UAETIIE)

23  Provisions 23 R
The group =& H
Employee Defect liability
benefits period
(note (a)) (note(b)) Total
BEER R B 5
(HtzE(a)) (Fft=E (b)) |t
HK$E T HK$E T HK$E T
At 1 April 2008 RZZZENFHEA—H 1,300,316 299,099 1,599,415
Additional provisions recognised ZEIMEMEETIR 515,965 1,197,067 1,713,032
Utilisation of provision BEEREHLE (537,641) (839,923) (1,377,564)
At 31 March 2009 RZZETNF=A=+—H 1,278,640 656,243 1,934,883
Notes: M5
(@) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (@) BEEEHBE RS EBRIRENHERE -

24

and compensation claims made by employees.

(b) The provision for defect liability period relates to the estimated cost of
work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard systems
to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted for the
purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period because
the effect is not material.

Short-term borrowings

The bank loans and overdrafts were repayable within one year or
on demand as follows:

REBBEDIEEESTES B RARMNMER
TRAAR - ARNREIAREHENBRRAZED
R HURBRHEHERMBE -

24 RTHIEE

AR—FRREEREENRITEERENOT :

The group &5 H

2009 —EEhF 2008 —ZF)\F

HK$E T HK$ZE T
Secured bank loans BEBIRITEE 2,399,384 6,455,737
Secured bank overdrafts (note 21) FEMIRITES (FIFE21) 285,997 4,299,977
2,685,381 10,755,714

The bank loans and overdrafts bear interest at approximately 5.5%
(2008: ranging from 4.5% to 8.25%) per annum for the year.

At 31 March 2009 the group’s general banking facilities were
secured by the following:

(a) corporate guarantees executed by the company and a
subsidiary;
(b) personal guarantees executed by two directors of the

company (note 31(b));
(0 the group’s pledged bank deposits (note 21); and

(d) guarantee executed by the Government of the HKSAR.

REBMBRITEERBITEIHEER RS S
“ZEENF AS5EER25E) FTEFE o

R-BBAFZA=+—0  AEEERTEHD
—MRETRA BRI T

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

AR R—MERRMEEER

ARBIMBERNEARR (FEE31(0b))

AEBNEEMBITER (H3E21) &

EEBFREHER -
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Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at certain
rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to the
income statement for the year were HK$2,158,016 (2008:
HK$2,126,673).

Share options schemes

The company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-
IPO Scheme”) on 12 February 2001. In addition, the company
adopted a 2002 share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) on
8 August 2002, and the Pre-IPO Scheme was simultaneously
terminated. Upon termination of the Pre-IPO Scheme, no further
options may be offered thereunder. However, in respect of the
outstanding options, the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme shall
remain in force. The outstanding options granted under the Pre-
IPO Scheme shall continue to be subject to the provisions of the
Pre-IPO Scheme and Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, and
the adoption of the 2002 Scheme will not in any event affect the

terms in respect of such outstanding options.
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B TRKEF

AEEZEBRGIEATES AR RRETERE
R G FLERRIRIE R A R ERAMENRET BN E
BREERHRFIEATRSFE (RESFTE]) < &
seiE S At Bl AR ERFRINGT S W hBIEFEE
TEIE - RIEBESFE - EEIREEBSARLE
EAMNHENS%aRESAIHR MEBEASR
B F e LR 7320,000087T  FAE (G BN T

st o

ARRRFENMEAREEMRTREZRER
BHER 2 THEERMKENGE - B A RREH
B ARRAGTEIRENL XKAEEERTEEHLA
FEHI TR -

AEBRARFE T AMERARIKEFEETR B
2,158,016 70 (ZZFZN\F : 2,126,673%7T) °

BRETE

RAARRZZEZE—F_A+-AHMN—BLTANA
AR & ([ EMATEtED - RZZEZZFNAN
B ARRRA_ST_FERESE ([ZTZ=
FEHE]) MARKLE ETHATETE o £ AT 814
b8 - TS BRI IR 2 A AR o HER
TEMBERE - ETATGHBIEEE £ - EWRTET
E M ARITEMBREEEEE T ETATH I RAIZE
REFRAUNE-_+=8  — T _FHEBTEY
22|} 18 AR T 15 B AR O R fRT A6 o
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26 Share option schemes (continued) 26 BRETE (&)
(@)  Pre-IPO Scheme (a) EmAEIETE
As mentioned above, the Pre-IPO Scheme was terminated on 8 NERK - FWRIGFEIR T _FNANBR
August 2002 and no further options may be offered thereunder. IE - TRt BETERE  REARRITE
Details of the outstanding share options of the scheme during the BRI

year are as follow:

Hanberef shgEReR Period Price per Market
BREYE .
during share to be value per
Outstanding ~ Granted  Exercised Lapsed ~ Outstanding which paidon  share at date
at 1 April during during during at31March  Date options exercise of of grant
Name or category of participant 2008  theyear  theyear theyear 2009 granted exercisable options of options
RZBBNE R-BENE fikid b RUBRE
BA-A S[E =T AR EAN
BERENZHER WATR  REARE  REAGE  RERRE WATRE  REAH BRETRE SRER ktHE
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent/Director 6,109,440 - - - 6109440 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 o HK$0.095 /A
11 February 2011
Ygr /83 TR-ECAtCA CER-ENAt-RE 009547 TER
2—£2ft-H
George Roger Manho/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 o HK$0.095 /A
11 February 2011
Blek /%3 “IR-ECAtCA CER-ENAt-RE 009547 TER
2——£2ht-H
Cheng Kwok Hung/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 1o HK$0.095 A
11 February 2011
gak /83 T5-5ATCR CEE-ENACt-RE 009557 TER
2—£2ht-H
Liu Hoi Wah/Director 19,112,640 - - - 19112640 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 o HK$0.095 /A
11 February 2011
Bz /%3 “IR-ECftCR CER-ENAt-RE 009557 TER
2—£Cft-H
Lee Peng Fei, Allen/Director 1,760,000 - - - 1,760,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 1o HK$0.095 A
11 February 2011
2BR/ 82 “EE-ECftoR CEE-ENAC-RE 009547t TR
“2—£Cf1-H
Employees 35,157,920 - - - 35157920 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 o HK$0.095 /A
11 February 2011
B2 ZE5-E2RTR 0 ZEE-EN\ACT-RE 009557 TR
-

70,140,000 - - - 70,140,000
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Share options schemes (continued)
(b) 2002 Scheme

The company operates the 2002 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2002 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2002 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2002 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of shares
of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the 2002
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the 2002 Scheme, if earlier.

26

ITE (Holdings) Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2008-2009 4 i

BT (&)

ARRET_TT_F58 sERNHAKEEE
RO EMERERERERHEDHLEE - —TF
“HGBAREREREARES HREFEBILIE
HITESZ AREHEMBES  EmlRBHER
BP - EA% - —TE_FFHEAR_TZT_F)\A
NBERER - BEBUHE RSN - AR E H L
STFERBR -

SLITEE PR 151 AR 17 68 7 B X o B8 AR i o BN i 7 {2
MARE =TT F5+ 8 R BB 8B K
o HEBTHRNEE TEBRA RN ETERK
B930% ° PMER+—E AR KRR -—TE—F
AR R EMEGBEESSEMABRERED
MRNEBE B2 LRARRERDETHRMNM
1% ° B H I ERMBRERL - ARBERA
B BRALE

MEE - THREH - RERRRSNEEFAKHERE
BRE  ABCEBIFATESME - BIN B

MARAKRR - REBIYIERITES S E AN
PR m R HE - NMEM T - EABRASZRRER
ME0. 1% HAEE RREE R QA KN EBE
H)SROBEET  ARBRRASERRAE -

ERTHEREETREHREHBEREN -+ —X
W BB BTHREAEREZBRE - K
BRENTERRAEEET  NEHE—REH
M WRRHREHERERRTFAZA
BEE  RoTT-F810HHERE -
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26 Share option schemes (continued)

(b) 2002 Scheme (continued)

The exercise price of the share option is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

Details of the outstanding share options of the 2002 Scheme

26 fERESTE (&)

BRENTEERDHEFEE  HETBER
TR EE  ()VARROEBRERLE B O KT
B (A RIRMERD KL B AER S AKF
HUTHE ¢ (iR PEE -

RERNMKRTEN T F5 BINBRENFIE

during the year are as follows: LU
fRatd > Period Price per Market
BhEgE ]
during share to be value per
Outstanding ~ Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding which paidon share at date
at 1 April during during during at31March  Date options exercise of of grant
Name or category of participant 2008  theyear  theyear theyear 2009 granted exercisable options of options
N-EENF HoRENE fiHRE RihhE
BA-AH =HE e LA ERH
RERZREDER WATE  REARE  REATR  REARY HATR  RARH BRETER SRER kitmte
Employess 3,500,000 - - - 3500000 9 August 2002 9 August 2003 to HK$0.175 HK$0.175
8 August 2012
& BECENAAR CZECE/\AAAE 017587 01757
i S 1V
An employee 6,400,000 - - - 6400000 9 August 2002 9 February 2003 to HK$0.175 HK$0.175
8 August 2012
& PECENAAR CBECECAAAE 017587 01757
S 1V
9,900,000 = 3 - 9,900,000

At 31 March 2009, the number of shares outstanding and issuable
under the Pre-IPO Scheme and the 2002 Scheme were 70,140,000
and 9,900,000, respectively.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

RZBZAF=ZA=+—8 " LHAER=-_ZZT
TR BITRIRMEE 5 51 A70,140,0008% K
9,900,000f% ©

BRETEEZTHAEAMDMBERNBERAGHR
EHER o
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shares repurchased in February 2009 and March 2009 respectively that

27 Capital and reserves 27 BXK#E
(@) Share capital (@) RE=R
(i) The company (i) ZiN/NE)|
2009 2008
—EThE —EE)N\F
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
RO BT gE =] BT
Authorised: VETEARAR
Ordinary shares of FIEE0.01BITH) 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
HK$0.01 each AR
Ordinary share, issued and BT REZRA
fully paid: LB
At 1 April RIEA—H 907,536,000 9,075,360 907,536,000 9,075,360
Repurchase of shares (note) EIRERR (D (HIE) (1,968,000) (19,680) - -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 905,568,000 9,055,680 907,536,000 9,075,360
Note: Included in the 1,968,000 shares were 100,000 shares and 316,000 iz : 7£1,968,0008% E1#E AR {7 # - % 100,0008% £316,000

BABR_FZNF_AR—ZETNF=ADE -

81

were subsequently cancelled in May 2009. ZROR_ZTNFR AW -
TRRSBEAGEIRBEMAEIRMOKRE - WEE
RASEGZ LEER—EBRERR - IETERK
EAREEFBEESMARSHAL o

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the company’s residual assets.
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27 Capital and reserves (continued) 27 EXkf#E (E)
(a) Share capital (continued) (a) MA& (&)
(i) During the year, the company repurchased its own ordinary (i) FR - ARARK S FEE TS EERR
shares on the Stock Exchange as follows: 7 :
Number Price paid per share
of shares Aggregate BRXZER
Month/year £ /8 repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
188 B 4 81 B FZNECE BS BIE
HK$# 7T HK$# 7T HK$E T
September 2008 ZEENFNA 1,552,000 98,288 0.075 0.045
February 2009 —EENF=A 100,000 3,729 0.035 0.035
March 2009 —TTNF=A 316,000 11,728 0.035 0.035
1,968,000 113,745
The repurchased shares were cancelled, except as disclosed in note BREEE27(a) (VRSN » % FRBR MR EERER
27(a)(i), and accordingly the issued share capital of the company i MARRERITRAMBEZERMOAEET
was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The premium A o T EIHE R 19 K994,065 7T 5 B M AR (5 /& B A
paid on the repurchase of the shares of HK$94,065 was charged BR o

to share premium account.

(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at (iii) REE B R RSB RoRTT#E R Rk i

balance sheet date

Exercise 2009 —EFThE 2008 — TN\ F

Exercise period price Number Number
1T TEE B #AH
21 August 2001 to —EE—FN\A=Z+—RH=E HK$0.095
11 February 2011 —EZ——%_-A+—H 0.095% 7T 70,140,000 70,140,000
9 August 2003 to —EE=F)N\ANBZE HK$0.175
8 August 2012 e AV AN =! 0.175%7T 3,500,000 3,500,000
9 February 2003 to —EE=F-ANHEE HK$0.175
8 August 2012 —E——FN\ANR 0.175/% 7T 6,400,000 6,400,000
80,040,000 80,040,000
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share BENGHERS 5 A AR LA — IR BE IR R 208 — IR A A &)
in the company. Further details of these options are set out in note WBAL o 15 BB IR HESE B BN AN B TR SRR M 26 o

26 to the financial statements.
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Capital and reserves (continued) 27 EXki#E (E)
(b)  Reserves (b) &
) The group (i) REH
The amounts of the group’s reserves and the movements therein REBNREBE LA N IGEERE TR -
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(ii) The company (if) Vi N/NE]
Share
premium Accumulated
(note (c)(i)) losses Total
R R 1E
(M) Y ] il
HK$E T HK$E T HK$#E 7T
Balance at RZZEZT+HFMA—H
1 April 2007 wEER 22,816,249 (24,405,103) (1,588,854)
Profit for the year FRE A - 112,817 112,817
Balance at RZBENF=ZA=1—
31 March 2008 =TT N\FMNA—H
and 1 April 2008 3 22,816,249 (24,292,286) (1,476,037)
Repurchase of shares [ERE AR
(note 27(a)(i) (BiiE27(a)ii)) (94,065) - (94,065)
Loss for the year EREE - (40,470) (40,470)
Balance at RZZETNF=A=+—H
31 March 2009 wEER 22,722,184 (24,332,756) (1,610,572)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the

company’s articles of association and the Companies Law of the

Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account

may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to

members, provided that immediately following the date on which

distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will

be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form

of fully paid bonus shares.

(0 RENHEEREDN

(i) vyl

BOOEENSREXHSHS R RERA R AAL
ERAARE  HREBRFARAERERERED K
RN EE R AJEEABERBETIHNE
o ROERE R ARMABER DK RIRMARE < &
174 18 7T AT A SR AT RRUR 2
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EXkiEtE (R)

27 Capital and reserves (continued) 27

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(ii) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
completed on 18 November 2000 over the nominal value of the
share capital of the company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(0).

(iv) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
available-for-sale financial assets in note 2(d).

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2009, the company had no reserve available for
distribution to shareholders of the company (2008: HK$Nil).

(e) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

() fRENEEREHN (&)
(ii) B oHERE
AEBNAFREERE  RE_ZTZF+—A+

NBERINEA - AR R AR B AR FE B 5 R
BIERRSEANIREE -

(iiiy  SNEERE SR

SNESTE S (e e B HE 2R B L B I R T 0 B 7% R 19
SMETER Z R o FEBRBEHNHE20)8 5 BRERRE
b

(iv) BEMERE

REMBERERENZ2DEARAIELESRE

EMBEREIE

(d) woE#E

RZZBZAF=RA=+—H ARARLE/EMATH
REFARRRROHEE (ZZEZTN\F BB -

(e) EXER

AEBNERBRHEERAARE AN & B A4 &
BIERL S - DAEEAEISEMARRIR IR A A
HEERALRHERE - LERERRERBRKF AN
HERBEAGERALR2ERES -

AEBTHRERRTEEAEE NS TER D
HiehR  RERZ2RHEEGEESNR - REL
BER T ER Y E R G R D &S A -
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Capital and reserves (continued)
(e) Capital management (continued)

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes short-term borrowings and
trade and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less
cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2008, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The major financial covenant for the group’s committed banking
facilities is to maintain the consolidated tangible net worth not less
than HK$10,000,000 during the period of facilities granted. At 31
March 2009, the group had complied with the relevant financial
covenant.

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

(a) Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 45 days (2008: 60 days)
from the date of billing. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.
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EXNkiEtE (F)
(e) EAXERE (H)

AEESNFAEHEHABREAL R RELERRE
BARE - gt AEBREERE (BREEHRER
RERE 5 R E AR IRSR) I0T MR 23 K 35 A
EREREMRSFEY REERRITER - K
BENBEMAEDZRNEEZRRERE

FRN - AEENRENR_ZZT)\F - BEFELF
BERBERAN L HUER50%KF o BT ERFH
B AEEA AL A BRI FIREMKRS
B  RERATERR SEEHOERBEX
HEEENRDER -

REEMEAZRTHEBENEIENBEOE £
RHUREHRREEFEEEFETS 10,000,000
BT - R-ETAFE=A=1+—H AEEDET
BT ERL -

TRIA

AEEERN - REBERTELRFE BE2RD
M FERRINERR -

LR RAEE NP B E R R ERTR N

o

il

(a) fEERR

AEENEERRIZRABIE S K H M REIKIR
R BEEERENEERR Y EHEEEM&
R EERRE o

SIEWE 5 R ERIRRM S - SRAE RS
BETEESHENBETOSETENEE MG - U1t
ST 2HEBRTRERNR NSRS RIRE
WEREE  WEBBERTNERE R RER RN
EBRFENEN - BB SIRFTHBEHRER AL
sH45H (ZTT)\F 1 60H) WEIH - ANEE—&
TEREPKEER SR
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28

Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet
date, the group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 58%
(2008: 48%) and 87% (2008: 86%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment
allowance. Except for the financial guarantees given by the
company as set out in note 30, the group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the group or the company
to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the balance sheet date is disclosed in
note 30.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 18.

(b) Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, most of the
borrowings that mature with one year are able to renew and the
group expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the
group and manage the liquidity position.

28

“ETNFZRA=+—HLEFE GUERIE)

ERTIA ()
(@) fFERRE (&)

AEEMEGRNEERR  FEXSEFH E%‘J%
BRRE - %}ﬂ«%aﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁaﬁl%m
BT EEERR  EXEBEHRD - ﬁ*ﬁEl
AEENSZARAAEFP(HEREKE ZESRD B
58% (ZZZTN\F : 48%) K8T% (ZTZT/)\F :
86%) ' EAZ —ERENEESHER -

ERZEEBEAMOERT  REEABROHEZK
EERKRETES /S ENIREE RS L RELE
1 o BRI E305IBA AR AR E MM B ERIN - A
SEWLREEMEMERBEANAEESREAARE
HizEER - REZBABREMBERNZA
8RB N30 -

REBERKE S M EMEEIRKAMELENEERR
AR 18fEH L IREE -
(b) EzRBHERERE

AEENBERDRIBERANRE LRSS EEY - X
FARRTRENATERREEE - WBEINT

FEKLEMNAREI L - ARBESAR B
BOR—FAINANEEGIERH - AEBEEM
BERHEERRARNEESTE  WHEER

PESMMR
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Financial instruments (continued) 28 @I A (&)
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) ESREMER (&)
The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the RERER  AEENEEAEREBENRTRERS
balance sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted cash MINTREAT
flows, was as follows:
Total More than
2009 contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than
The group amount cash flow on demand 2 years
ZBEAF BHRITR R—FR HiB—F
AEE IREE RER REER BLAREF
HK$#E T HK$#E T HK$#E T HK$#E T
Trade and other payables ENE S MR EMmEMIKRR 10,316,882 10,316,882 10,255,132 61,750
Short-term borrowings REEE 2,685,381 2,685,381 2,685,381 -
13,002,263 13,002,263 12,940,513 61,750
Total More than
2008 contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than
The group amount cash flow on demand 2 years
—ETNF BRIRITIR R—FRA @i —F
REH WREE WEm SR EK BLRRE
HK$E 7T HK$E 7T HK$E 7T HK$E T
Trade and other payables ERE S REMmERMIEFR 10,452,980 10,452,980 10,397,980 55,000
Short-term borrowings EHEE 10,755,714 10,755,714 10,755,714 =
21,208,694 21,208,694 21,153,694 55,000
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28

Financial instruments (continued) 28 @I A (&)
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) E&RBERR ()
The maturity profile of the company’s financial liabilities as at the RERER  ARAAMEBEEHNESREBENRTRRS
balance sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted cash MIIRIAT -
flows, was as follows:
The company 2009 2008
N “EZhE —ZTNE
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand amount cash flow on demand
EHRITE R—FR BHARTHR R—FR
IREE BER FEER IREE Ren HEEK
HKS$H#E T HKS$H#& T HKS$H# T HK$/&T HK$ T HK$BTT
Accrued charges and R ERAR
other payables HAbFERIRIK 604,733 604,733 604,733 716,017 716,017 716,017
(<) Interest rate risk (c) T 2= [ Bz

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the
group’s financial position.

The group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its short-term
borrowings. These borrowings bear interests at rates varying with
the then prevailing market condition.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates
would have no significant impact on the group’s profit and equity
for the year.

(d) Currency risk

The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in HK$, RMB, MOP and US$. The group
has minimal exposure to currency risk as the foreign exchange rate
of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is pegged with US$. The group
currently does not have a currency hedging policy in respect of
currency debt. The group will monitor its currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the
need arise.

FEBNEENBEEDRRITER - XEENF
BN REN SN XEE  BHAEENMEMN
A AR E

AEENFEEARKEEHREES -
VT I5 BB IRE B RFEMNE -

w

EEFREE

FEICOEEMM AR REDH T EHAERR
ARBAREEHGENMERELEATE -

5

(d EBE

HRAREABOEERS  BERABEHEIEN
B ARE RPIEREXTINE - MEAZRIN
PE R A o f A T S R R BB PR BB T
HEETMBBER - WAKEMMAZNEERRE
Mo AEBENBEBRRARSEIERR (F)
HAKERBEEAVBRER - ETIMNERRE
2o AEEREEEREIMNERR  IREFER
VASNE 32 B & 0T rh SMNE LR -
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Financial instruments (continued) 28 @I A (&)
(d)  Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥Ek (&)
The following table details the group’s exposure at the balance AEEREEERAIRERAERNERER 27
sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised assets or WEREERABESENEERBRFAET
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they related.
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENF ZEEN\F —EEAE —ZEENF
HKS$8 T HK$#E 7T HKS$8 7T HK$E T
RMB AR 2,556 4,940 - -
MOP SRPHE 296,837 28,518 - (22,976)
us$ Evv 84,567 1,701,711 (267,508) (114,424)
A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between ARBEET  RPIE BT RE BT ZHE

RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$ and US$ to HK$ would have no
significant impact on the group’s profit and equity for the year.

(e)  Equity price risk

The group did not expose to equity price risk as it disposed of the
entire available-for-sale financial assets during the year.

(f) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2009 and 2008.

KB 1% A ENEHAEE KRR EHF R G &
BEWRBEATE -

(e) HEZERER

AEERFACSHELHAIHLESREE - 808
BERERERRR -

f) 2RFEE

MELRMIANARSBREEANR _TTNFR-ZT
FhE=ZA=+—HNRXFEEEERTH -
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29

30

“ETNFZRA=+—HLEFE GUERIE)

Commitments 29 A&IE
At 31 March 2009, the total future minimum lease payments RZZEZNF=ZA=+—RH AEEREBEEEYZE
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: A E L S HEMER B e X M REHRER
IR :
The group
AEH
2009 —EFhF 2008 —ZZ=T)N\F
HKS$38 T HK$B7T
Within 1 year —FR 855,116 1,838,009
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRAFA 67,340 700,486
922,456 2,538,495
The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and AEBEETRLAHENYERSRETAES A
items of office equipment held under operating leases. The leases Y — MR —FEERE (—CEENE: WERE=
typically run for a period of 1 year to 5 years (2008: 4 months F) WA RBEGSE RS TEHRT - ZSHOWL
to 3 years) with an option to renew the lease when all terms are BB EASAEE ©
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
The group and the company did not have any other significant AEBERARBAR-_ZETNF=A=+—HLEE
capital and financial commitments as at 31 March 2009 (2008: RMEANERNRABAE (ZSESN\FE  £) -
Nil).
Contingent liabilities 30 HAREME
At 31 March 2009, the company has issued corporate guarantees RZZEENF=ZA=+—H  XRaREBEFE2EN
to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly BAAMNBITRERELEER - ARAESTT
owned subsidiaries. The directors of the company do not consider RAENANBAAEEE TR EBRERNEE A
it probable that a claim will be made against the company under AEIRNEE R EMBARRITRENDEER TR
any of the guarantees. The maximum liability of the company at = 81& 47,000,000 (ZFZ/\4F : 15,000,000
the balance sheet date under the corporate guarantees issued is BIT) °

the banking facilities of HK$7 million (2008: HK$15 million) drawn
down by the subsidiaries at that date.
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Material related party transactions 31 EREAEALRZ
(@) Key management personnel remuneration (a) FAREBAESHME
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group, RAARAREEAENEBEINARRES (B
including amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in PizESHRER) T :
note 8, is as follows:
2009 —EZThEF 2008 —=ZN\F
HKS$# T HK$E T
Short-term employee benefits EHEERT 1,648,000 1,762,500
Post-employment benefits ER%ER 24,000 32,100
1,672,000 1,794,600
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note 6(b)). B THA (Kizxe(b)) ERFEAEE -
(b)  Provision of personal guarantees (b) IREBEAER
Two (2008: Three) directors of the company have provided ARABWMB(ZTEZENF: =ZR) EFHA
personal guarantees to the extent of approximately HK$22 million SFEOETRTEE (K 3240) REHEREL
(2008: HK$33 million) to the banks in relation to general banking 22,000,000/ & (= ZF Z )\ 4 : 33,000,000/ Jt)
facilities granted to the group (note 24(b)). FIE AR ©
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 32 M FHBEENEERR

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

(@)  Revenue and profit recognition

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budget cost of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during
the revision.

(b) Fixed assets and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s fixed assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
fixed assets of similar nature and functions.

ERMASEH S RE (FARME2)  EHE
SIEL THIER RAE - RATNREREERAE
IREEE L KIRE B -

(a) WERIEFHER

AEB2EEGF ANBETRAELNA DA
HRESHRAEEN L AL RERONTRE

Lo MEREBMEENZERANENHBEED
RELR - FHERSFEERATRHENE#R
WA KB 5 - B8 B WFAERAA E H2E 3 K i it
BT HREREREY - MSEREL -

(b) BEEEERTE

REBREAEBEETEENE I ERBNREH
FEEBR MELEAERBEREEREZREN
GRIANEEEENERAERYMNE
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32

33

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(c) Impairment on trade and other receivables

The policy for impairment on trade and other receivables of the
group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of accounts and on management’'s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment may be required.

(d)  Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2009

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2009 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matters that may
be relevant to the group’s operations and financial statements:

32
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“ETNF=ZRA=F+—HLEFE GUETIE)

AEt RAEENEERR (&)

() FEWRESKEAMEWIRRIRE

AR B e W B 5 N EL b e UR R SR R R (BB R E AR R
W R RE TG - AREEEOHE - £ EESSE
BEPHMEEERMBERFCHRETE—ERRE
AT o {5 AR B P RO B IR IR T AS L E
NFRRENRI ISR - HE 7R ERINRE ©

(d) =#EHE
FEIEIRIERE & &5 AT 2 3RFE - MiTER
it R A R fhat - B AR EBREREFRED L
BER  AREEEERMEARZNHREAR - 25l
FEFENREERFENRRZOPE -

BE-ZEZNFE=A=+—BHLFE
EEMERERNIEET - FEARR
EE’J/@E,\W =

BENSHBHRRTEZR  BESHMIASCR
MEIRERT FEARRE  ERBE_ZTTIF
ZA=tT—HUEFENRER - BERRULETE
WRRM -

FEELEXF AT AR
WREM -

HEAEE K RIS

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTBEHE®R
e EER B ER
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements 1 January 2009
GETHERIE 15 — 85T IS HmERN 2R —ETNF—A—H

HKAS 23 (Revised)
SE SR ERIFE 235 — &85

Borrowing costs

fEERA

HKAS 27 (Revised)

SR GETHERISE275% — 1BFT iR e AR B Tk

Consolidated and separate financial statements

1 January 2009

—ETNF—A—H
1 July 2009
—EENFLA—H
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E-ZENF=ZAZ=T—BLEE
CEMERERNERT » HEAARR

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31

March 2009 (continued)

BNEEE (B)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
R BEABE %R
e R ALK

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 (Amendments)

EEPBWMEERE 1R R
SR ERTERIE275E — BRI A

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

EEPBWMEERE2R — BRI

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
BB R EAERIFEIN — KI5

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
BB RELERETHE — BRI

HKFRS 8
BB S AR E8R

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13

Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or associate
M AR - R E R A RNRERAR

Share-based payment — Vesting conditions and
cancellations
LARRfn RERE S I — B RS 51 R 88

Business combinations

XAt

Improving disclosures about financial instruments
SR T AR

Operating segments
EENE

Customer loyalty programmes

1 January 2009

“FEAE-A—H

1 January 2009

—TTNF—R—H
1 July 2009
—TTNFEHA—H

1 January 2009
—ETNF—A—H

1 January 2009
—ZTENF—HA—H

1 July 2008

5% (ARVBRERBEES) BE RS —TTN\FtHA—H

- BEFE135%
The directors have confirmed that the group is in the process of BREstERIE 15 (KI8E) Al BB B mK AR
making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, HEFREBITNEEN (BREFNRAREY
new standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the LLEEE) - RAKE ETETEHALEE

period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
group’s results of operations and financial position except for

HKAS 1, which may result in new or amended disclosures in

the financial statements, including restatement of comparative

amounts in the first period of adoption.

& AR AL F e

ET CHERRRBEVRERMENTE - 298
Al MR BREBE TS AL
E@%E%%ﬁ&ﬂﬁ%ﬂkﬁmﬁkéﬁ%;
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hEHME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) — (LAJ&7TFIME)

2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05
“EENEBAE C"TTLEEZ\F ZETEREEtF —ZTREENF  ETNETRAE
HKS$#& T HK$ AT HK$E T HK$/E T HK$ATT

Results £
Turnover EEHE 77,488,677 77,492,591 66,829,725 65,725,317 48,470,321
Profit/(loss) from operations mEER/(58) 2,299,518 2,404,538 792,233 1,989,624 (14,880,571)
Finance costs BE KA (799,671) (1,200,913) (1,440,191) (1,245,864) (728,781)
Gain on disposal of available-for- & /] &

sale financial assets SREENR - - 1,825,850 = =
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEAER /(BE) 1,499,847 1,203,625 1,177,892 743,760 (15,609,352)
Income tax St (185,000) (118,015) (220,466) (150,000) -
Profit/(loss) for the year AREIRREN

attributable to shareholders FREF/(EE)

of the company 1,314,847 1,085,610 957,426 593,760 (15,609,352)
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Fixed assets BEBE 372,042 659,642 792,989 361,123 662,436
Investment securities REEF - - - - 2,249,670
Available-for-sale financial AftHE

assets tREE - 1,653,600 1,487,900 3,527,893 -
Net current assets REBEEFE 11,376,755 8,328,653 6,864,729 4,137,544 4,566,913
Net assets BEFE 11,748,797 10,641,895 9,145,618 8,026,560 7,479,019

Earnings/(loss) per share SREA/(F8)
Basic (HK cents) BA (L) 0.15 0.12 0.1 0.07 (1.72)
Diluted (HK cents) & (A1) N/A RiER 0.12 N/A NE A N/A RN FR N/A TNEA
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